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Teacher’s Notes

Semester 2

David H. Fournier & Amy Sentell


4 LEA Oral English

(semester ii (
The primary objectives of this oral English course are:

· To improve spoken fluency and pronunciation

· To effectively communicate and work comfortably in an English environment

· To be sufficiently prepared for the final oral exam in June

Class Information

Group

Teacher



Time


Location
1a

Amy Sentell 



Mondays, 15h

rm. 168

1b

David H. Fournier


Mondays, 15h

rm. 154

2a

Amy Sentell
 


Mondays, 16h

rm. 236

2b

David H. Fournier 


Mondays, 16h

rm. 235

Contact Info:

Amy: 

sentellamy@hotmail.com
David: 

lecteurdavid@yahoo.fr
Website:  
www.unice.fr/OralEnglish
Class objectives accomplished through:

· Role-plays, debates, discussions, and activities

· Class project: Get Involved!
Student Oral Participation

In general, classes are designed in such a way that the students are able to participate as much as possible by speaking English and conversing with the lecteur and other classmates throughout the entire class session.  Students are required to take on a specific role in a mock trial.  Each student must at one point give a short uninterrupted speech (5 mins.) as either a testimony, description of events, verdict, etc. (depending on the role).
Class project:  The Get Involved! Initiative
Similar to the website last semester, this time we will take a proactive approach at introducing the oral English programme at the University of Nice by being more involved, promoting and encouraging oral English, our website, and participating in and organising English Society events.

Evaluation
Oral Expression, Participation, and Attendance: 

10 marks

Get Involved! Contribution:




10 marks
Total:



20 marks

Course Outline

Week


Subject




Preparation
Page
1. Feb. 14, 2005
Improving Website Submissions



   9

2. Feb. 21

Intro to Tort Actions:



Read articles
  10




Short Trial Debates & Discussions

3. Feb. 28

Fat Americans Sue Fast Food Firms

Read article
  15

4. Mar. 7

Erin Brockovich



Watch movie
  19




Movie Clips: Erin Brockovich

(Tues. Feb. 22 at









5pm)

5. Mar. 14

The Walkerton E. Coli Tragedy

Read articles
  22

6. Mar. 21

Intro to: Ricki Jones vs. Metro City

Read article(s)  26

7. Mar. 28

Trial – part 1




individual
  32
8. Apr. 4

Trial – part 2




individual
  32
Apr. 11
-----------------
Week Off! – No Class – Enjoy! ----------------------------------

9. Apr. 18

Trial – part 3




individual
  32
10. Apr. 25

Trial – part 4




individual
  32
11. May 2

Trial – part 5 The Verdict


individual
  33
12. May 9

Feedback and Discussion


Prepare
  34









questions

Revision Week (May. 16 – 22)

Exams
(May. 23 – Jun. 4)

Semester 2 Oral Participation

Surprise!  This semester we are not having individual presentations.  Instead, you will be required to participate in a mock trial and role-play one of the various characters.  Each student will be required to provide a short presentation/description/testimony of his/her character to the class on the relevant trial day.  This speech should last no longer than 5 minutes.  After all the character presentations/testimonies, the court case will commence.  You must choose your role by week 6 (Mar. 21).

Topic:  Ricki Jones V. Metro City (see week 6)

Author: Kamina Henderson, D.C. Street Law Project

Source: http://www.streetlaw.org/content.asp?ContentId=181
Presentation Format and Preparation:

See Week 6 for all possible role-plays and instructions (p. 28-30)

Evaluation:

In order of importance, the teacher will be evaluating: interpretability, fluency, grammar and vocabulary, pronunciation, overall proficiency, and enthusiasm.

Important Dates:

Mar. 21

Allocation of roles

Mar. 28

Trial – part 1

Apr. 4


Trial – part 2

Apr. 18

Trial – part 3

Apr. 25

Trial – part 4

May 2


Trial – part 5, The Verdict

 4LEA Project – Get Involved!

Project Name:  The Get Involved! Initiative

Last semester, we all contributed to a common project with a common goal: an introductory website for LEA students.  Let’s not have this work done in vain!  This semester, we will take a proactive approach at introducing the oral English programme at the University of Nice by being more involved, promoting and encouraging oral English, our website, and participating in and organising English Society events.

Goal: To encourage, promote and organise a fun environment for English students to learn English outside of the classroom.  More personally, to become more involved in extra-curricular activities at the University of Nice, setting a good example for lower-year students.

Options:

You may work alone or with a partner, unless otherwise indicated.  As always, if you choose to work with a partner, we expect double the effort and work!  Your partner and you should ideally do an equal amount of work.

Here are the possible ways in which you may choose to “get involved!”:

1. Organise an English Society event, activity, or party. 

You may do this as partners or in groups of three.

This is, by far, the best way to get students involved.  For some ideas, check out this website: http://www.unice.fr/OralEnglish/go/programs/option5.htm or the English Society website: http://www.unice.fr/OralEnglish/go/EngSoc/
If you decide to do this, you must:

· run your idea by your lectrice/lecteur (Amy/David) first for authorisation

· notify David (lecteurdavid@yahoo.fr) and provide him with all the details well before the event so that he may advertise it for you on the English Society website (http://www.unice.fr/OralEnglish/go/EngSoc/)

· publicise and publicize! ( Your event will only be successful if students know about it.  Make posters and announce the event to your classmates and in other classes.  This will need to be done at least 3 days before the event takes place.

· Prepare and organise your event in advance.  Any equipment or materials you need must be reserved well in advance to avoid any disappointment.

· Finally, attend your event, and make it happen!

Don’t forget: This event is to promote oral English. Make sure you have something prepared (ex. an activity) alongside your event for the students to practise their English more systematically.

2. Promote our 1st semester LEA website, or the English Society and Oral English websites.

This choice is designed to get students more acquainted with the Oral English program in cyberspace.  Alternatively, you may choose to just promote an aspect of a given website (ex. the Oral English forum).  This option is limited to 1 student/group per class.

· Let your lecteur know immediately that you intend to do this (as this option is limited).

· present the website orally to various Oral English classes (this will just be a very quick speech before the class starts (ex. 1 minute)

· publicise the website effectively using posters and/or create one large poster outlining the main features and/or usefulness of the website

· Do all this in February or early March so that students have the opportunity to use the site during their studies, otherwise your contribution may be futile.

3. Promote Get Involved! on our website from first semester. This option is limited to 2 students per class working individually.

· Let your lecteur know immediately if you intend to do this (as this option is limited).

Present a website submission (electronically) outlining the Get Involved! initiative.  Explain the program and its goals, providing examples of activities, the advantages of the program, and the various methods of promoting English.  Describe how you believe extra-curricular involvement can aid with language learning.  Do you believe this is an effective way to get students involved?  How could this program be improved?  What would you do differently/keep the same for next year?  Collect other student opinions (ex. classmates, lower-year participants) to include in your submission.  Your work will eventually be posted on the 4LEA 1st semester website.

4. Conduct a survey related to the English program.

· Come up with an idea for an issue-oriented or opinion survey somehow related to the English program

· Make sure your idea is appropriate by running it by your lecteur first

· Have students from all years of study in the English program complete this survey.  You may distribute the surveys in the other oral English classes.  (Make sure you get enough students to fill out the surveys to make the results more interesting and statistically sound!)

· Analyse the results and make conclusions and generalisations from the data

· Your work will eventually be posted on the 4LEA 1st semester website

5. Organise an interview with an English professor or lecteur at the fac.

· This interview should be relevant to the English program and not about the personal life or history of the person interviewed.  Therefore, you are interviewing this person with regards to his/her opinion on matters concerning the English program at the University of Nice.

· Make sure your idea for an interview topic and your interviewee is appropriate by running it by your lecteur first

· Write a transcript of the interview and include your own personal comments (details: see below in “evaluation” section)


Scheduling your event:

Provided on p. 7 is a calendar of 2nd semester.  In order to avoid conflicts, each class is given different days to organise events.  Exceptions can be made with your lecteur.

Evaluation:
The evaluation of your Get Involved! contribution will be mainly based on a written report (max. 2 pgs.).  Here is what you must do, depending on the option you chose above:

For Option 1:  Write a report of your event, what happened, when/where held, who attended, how it was organised etc.  Give your own evaluation of the event’s success.  What did your classmates think of it?  What did you find fun about it?  What did your find frustrating? What would you do differently if you were ever to organise an event like this in the future?  If appropriate, only include any materials that you created for this event.  Include in your report any other relevant information.

For Option 2:  Write a synopsis on exactly what you did to promote the website and when.  Explain why you believe your methods were effective.  Did you get a good response?  What would you do differently next time?  Provide all materials that you created along with your synopsis.

For Option 3:  Along with your website submission, provide a short description of how you would like your submission displayed on the website (design/format, etc.).  It may be wise to take a look at the website in advance.  Finally, explain briefly how you went about collecting other student opinions.

For Option 4:  You must submit all the completed survey forms to your lecteur.  You also must submit a write-up of the conclusions you have drawn from the data and what it all means.  This must be submitted electronically.  Discuss why you chose to do this study along with why it is relevant.  Provide your personal opinions on the matter.

For Option 5:  Submit your transcript of your interview along with any conclusions and comments you can make.  Also provide your personal opinions, namely why you chose to do this interview, why you chose this individual, your feelings on the interview (was it successful?), what you got out of this interview as a oral language learning exercise, etc.   This should all be submitted electronically for future posting on the 4LEA website. 

**This semester, your Get Involved! contribution is worth 50% 

of your Oral English grade.**

Final remarks:

How exactly you contribute to the Get Involved! initiative will be principally up to you.  However, provided below are some guidelines which should be followed in order for you to contribute in an appropriate and effective way.

· Tell your lecteur in advance what you intend on doing and when, for authorisation.  (Certain options are limited to a select number of students.)

· Do NOT leave this to the last minute.  No extra time will be given at the end of the semester for events, reports, or submissions!

· Prepare and organise in advance to avoid disappointment or complete disaster events.  Don’t give the English Society a bad name!

· Have fun!  This type of project is whatever you make of it!

Important Dates:

Feb. 14

Introduction of project

Feb. 21

Choice of option (1-5)
Feb. 28

Option 3: Submit proposed event and date (see calendar)

May 2


Final day to submit report, synopsis, or website submission

May 9


Last day of class

Calendar:

Group 1

Student/Group


Option


Project


Date








option 1 only
           option 1 only

1.
________________

     2


________________

(1 student or group per class)
2.
________________

     3






(2 students per class)
3.
________________

     3



Group 2

Student/Group


Option


Project


Date








option 1 only
           option 1 only

1.
________________

     2


________________

(1 student or group per class)
2.
________________

     3






(2 students per class)
3.
________________

     3

Week 1 - Feb. 14

Improving Website Submissions

This class is intended to teach students how to objectively critique and improve their classmates’ written English.  To this end, unedited website submissions from first semester will be distributed to the students and they will work in groups or pairs editing the documents.

Teacher:

Begin by introducing the task to the students.  Explain that some submissions to the website in first semester were chosen at random to be used as materials for this class.  Pair up or group students and distribute one document to each group.  Tell students that they must:

1. Read the document through, correcting any blatant grammar and spelling errors

2. Read the document again, this time rewriting awkward sentences or expressions, and anything else that you believe needs to be improved

3. Finally, discuss amongst your group how you would present this document on the website (design, layout, etc.)

4. Present briefly to the class your evaluation of the document: reasons for changing certain things, how you’d like it displayed online, and why you believe the document to be improved.

Oral Participation and Project:

It is important that you allow time (~10 mins.) at the end of the hour to do the following:

· Go over the semester 2 syllabus (pp. 1-2) and explain what the group project will be this semester (Get Involved! – pp. 4-8), allowing the students time to ask questions. Remind students that they must decide by next week what option (1-5) they would like to do (N.B. option 2 and 3 are limited!)

· Discuss how the evaluation of their oral English this semester will be different (ex. mock trial role-play p. 3). 



HOMEWORK FOR WEEK 2
- Encourage students to read the short “Case Law” cases.  They will be discussed and developed next week.



Week 2 - Feb. 21

Intro to Tort Actions

1. Introduce tort actions by defining “tort” and reading as a class the following paragraph.    Discuss as a class the definition of tort and tort law and answer the questions.

tort: Damage, injury, or a wrongful act done wilfully, negligently, or in circumstances involving strict liability, but not involving breach of contract, for which a civil suit can be brought.

A tort is a legal wrong. Tort law is a branch of the civil law; the other main branches are contract and property law. Whereas in criminal law the plaintiff is always the state and the defendant, if found guilty of a crime, is punished by the state, in civil law the dispute is typically between private parties (though the government can also sue and be sued). In the case of torts, the plaintiff is the victim of an alleged wrong and the unsuccessful defendant is either directed by the court to pay damages to the plaintiff (the usual remedy) or else to desist from the wrongful activity (so-called "injunctive relief"). Examples include intentional torts such as battery, defamation, and invasion of privacy and unintentional torts such as negligence. Most contemporary tort theory focuses on the legal consequences of accidents, where the relevant forms of liability are negligence and strict liability.

Source: http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/tort-theories/
Questions:

· Why would "negligence" be considered an unintentional tort?

Negligence is a passive form of harm whereby the accused does not intentionally mean this harm.

· Is a drunken motorist who does not get into any accident subject to tort liability?

No.  He has committed a wrong but has caused no harm.  

2. Briefly go over the common law definitions provided on p. 11 (stu10).   You may want to have students read the definitions to the class and when possible, explain them in their own words or give examples.

3. Now group/pair up the class and assign each group one of the 5 short cases in this week’s readings.  They must try to find merit in both sides of the case (the plaintiff v. the defendant).  Each article has a decision made by the court and a “holding”, the latter which may or may not agree with the former. Give them enough time to review/discuss the articles.  Circulate.  Each group will have to present to the class a summary of the case, their contrastive arguments, and whether they agree or disagree with the court’s decision and/or the “holding” judgment.



(Allow time at the end of class (5-10 mins.):

· Students decide today as to which option (1-5) they would like to do for Get Involved!. Fill in the sheet (p. 8).  Remind option 1 students that next week they must choose a date and a topic for their English Society event.  Refer them to the calendar (p. 7).

· Assign the homework:

HOMEWORK FOR WEEK 3

Read “Fat Americans…” article and answer the questions.  Be prepared to discuss the articles in class next week.

Helpful definitions

compensatory damages:  Damages a wrongdoer is required to pay to a victim to compensate the victim for the consequences of the wrongdoer's actions or inactions. There are many different kinds of compensatory damages, based upon the kinds of injuries that have been sustained.
jury: A body of persons sworn to judge and give a verdict on a given matter, especially a body of persons summoned by law and sworn to hear and hand down a verdict upon a case presented in court.
punitive damages:  An award of money in favour of a victim that is intended to punish the wrongdoer and not just to compensate the victim. Also called "exemplary damages." Punitive damages sometimes exceed the amount of actual damages by a factor of two or three times.

statutes:  Rules written and adopted by elected officials, Congress, state legislatures, borough assemblies and city councils (usually called "ordinances" in the latter two cases).

verdict: The finding (decision) of a jury in a trial.

plaintiff: The party that institutes a suit in a court; a person who brings a civil action or who sues in a civil action and is so named in the record.

defendant: The party against which an action is brought.

to sue: to bring an action against : seek justice from by legal process
liable (adj.): Legally obligated; responsible

strict liability: strict liability is the legal principle that a person or company which sells a product in a defective condition that is unreasonably dangerous to the ordinary user may be liable for any resulting property damage or physical injuries.

negligence: A failure to conform your conduct in a situation to the level of care expected of the hypothetical reasonable person, where that failure is the proximate cause of injury to another.
to incur: To acquire or come into (something usually undesirable)

breach:  A violation or infraction, as of a law, a legal obligation, or a promise. = infraction
CASE LAW

Source: http://www.streetlaw.org/content.asp?ContentId=181
Author: Kamina Henderson, D.C. Street Law Project
Here are some examples of Product Liability Actions



Scott v. Better Pest Products, 478 A.2d 1113 (New Goverland, 1990)

Summary of Facts:  On Appeal.  Frank Scott, a Metro City worker, used Herb Juice in his work.  Herb Juice is a pesticide produced by Better Pest Products.  The label on the Herb Juice can warned against using the pesticide without the use of gloves.  It stated that: “WARNING.  Use of this product without wearing protective gloves can result in severe skin burns.”  Mr. Scott used the product without wearing gloves.  Mr. Scott spilled some of the substance and suffered severe burns on his hands and wrists.  These burns caused extensive nerve damage, making it difficult for Mr. Scott to perform any manual labor.  

Mr. Scott sued Better Pest for $500,000, claiming that the label was insufficient to warn him of the potential dangers of the substance.   The trial court did not allow Mr. Scott to testify that he did not read the label or an expert to testify that average persons in the workplace do not read warning labels.  The trial court determined that this information was irrelevant.  The trial court found that Better Pest Products had provided a warning label that clearly stated the potential hazards of the product.  The trial court found providing a warning label satisfied Better Pest Product's duty of care.  

Holding:  We reverse the finding of the trial court and order a new trial.  The trial court erred in not allowing testimony as to whether the warning label would be read.   In this case, Mr. Scott is not only arguing that what the label said is inadequate; he is also arguing that a label alone is not enough warning.  The fact that Mr. Scott and other workers do not ordinarily read product warning labels could provide evidence that the label itself was inadequate to warn the user.  In negligence actions, the courts must apply a reasonable person standard.   Mr. Scott must be allowed to show that the average, reasonable person in the workplace would have heeded an adequate warning, and that this inadequate warning on the label would not have been read by the average, reasonable person.  Even though a plaintiff may have a difficult task proving this matter, he should be given the opportunity.



Bryant v. Metro City College, 519 A.2d 177 (New Goverland, 1992)

Summary of facts:  On appeal.  Twenty-two year old James Bryant, a Metro City College student, died of an allergic reaction to alcohol after drinking approximately five large glasses of Mad Hornet malt liquor from a keg served at a college-sponsored party.   Mad Hornet has twice as much grain alcohol than the average malt liquor (8% as compared to 4%).   There was no warning label either identifying the beverage as Mad Hornet malt liquor or disclosing its high alcohol content.  Mr. Bryant knew that he had a rare allergy to alcohol that could result in a reaction that ranged from mild dizziness to death.  Despite his awareness of his delicate condition, James Bryant often drank heavily at parties.  

The Bryant family sued Metro City College, claiming that their son died as a result of its negligence.  They claimed the college's failure to warn of the potency of the alcohol was responsible for James Bryant’s death.   The Bryants asserted that if James had been warned of the higher alcohol content of the Mad Hornet liquor, he would not have drunk it.  The trial court found that the Bryants did not prove by the preponderance of the evidence that Metro City College's failure to warn caused James Bryant's death.  Rather, the trial court determined that James Bryant's excessive drinking in disregard of his special health condition probably caused his death, and that even an adequate warning by Metro City College, would not have prevented him from drinking on the occasion in question.  The Bryants appeal the decision.

Holding:  We affirm the findings of the lower court.  Evidence that even an adequate warning would not have affected the conduct of the user may be enough to completely eliminate liability.  Accordingly, the trial court could have found from the evidence that James Bryant would not have heeded warnings even if they were adequate.  We conclude that, there was sufficient evidence for the court to find that Mr. Bryant's actions, and not Metro City's failure to warn, caused Mr. Bryant's death.   In this case, it is clear that Mr. Bryant was aware of his susceptibility to alcohol poisoning, yet risked drinking alcohol anyway.  



Bay City v. Smith,  722 P. 2d. 330 (Oregonia, 1993)

Summary of Facts:  Bay City stopped providing polio shots to the 1,000 kindergarten children entering its schools each year.  Polio had been nearly eliminated as a disease, with only one in 10,000 unvaccinated children contracting the disease.  Polio shots cost $15 per child.  Tamika Smith, a first grade student, was not given a polio shot and got polio.  Through her parents, she sued in negligence and was awarded  $150,000.  Bay City appealed.

Holding:    We affirm the trial court and deny the appeal.  The city has a legal responsibility to take reasonable measures to protect all of its citizens from health risks.  These measures may include, but are not limited to, providing adequate warning of the risk, minimizing the risk or eliminating the risk altogether.  Whether or not the steps taken by the city are deemed reasonable is determined by balancing health effects, economic burden and the foreseeability of injury by continuing to allow the existence of the risk.  



United Motors, Inc.v. Mason, 415 A. 2d 822 (New Goverland, 1980)

Summary of Facts:  Charles Mason died from burns suffered when the car he was driving was hit from behind and exploded upon impact.  United Motors, Inc., maker of the car, admits to liability.  The only question at issue here is the extent of damages.  Mildred Mason, the widow and representative of Charles Mason, has sued under both this state's Wrongful Death Statute and its Survival Statute.  Mildred and Charles Mason had three children, who at the time of Charles' death  were 3, 6 and 9 years old.  Charles Mason dearly loved, and was dearly loved by, his children.  He spent at least ten hours per week with his wife and each child.  Charles Mason was 40 years old, and had a life expectancy of 30 more years.  He could be expected to work until age 65.  He made $40,000 per year as a maintenance worker at a chemical plant.  He lived 10 days after the accident, in great pain from his burns.  Medical expenses came to $35,000.  Funeral expenses came to $3,000.

The trial judge awarded $2,338,000.  United Motors appealed.  We affirm.

Holding:  Under the Wrongful Death Statute, damages may be awarded for "the death and loss sustained" by his family.   The first type of damages sought by Mildred Mason is for lost wages.  This is for income lost to the family or the estate of the deceased.  The trial court's award of $1,000,000 for $40,000 in wages for 25 years is not excessive.  The second type of damages sought is for "loss of consortium," or loss of companionship.   Of course, money cannot truly compensate a family for the loss of a loved one.  Even so, the trial court's award of $20,000 per year for 30 years of life expectancy is not excessive.  The $20,000 amount, based on an amount of $5,000 per year per family member, is reasonable.  The third type of damages sought is for expenses brought about by the death.  The trial court's award of $3,000 for funeral expenses is reasonable.  The fourth type of damages sought is punitive damages.  Punitive damages are not allowed under our Wrongful Death Statute except in special circumstances.  These are situations where the defendant shows reckless or callous disregard for the life of the deceased.  In this lawsuit, United Motors admitted that it knew that its cars' gas tanks could explode in rare situations in a few cases.  The trial judge was not in error when deciding United Motors showed callous disregard for the life of Charles Mason.  The judge's award of $500,000, therefore, was permitted under the statute and not excessive.

Under the Survival Statute, tort claims which a person could bring before his death are allowed to be brought after his death.  These claims can be brought by the representative of the deceased in the place of the deceased.  In this case, Mildred Mason is seeking several types of damages.  First, she is seeking damages for Charles' pain and suffering between the time of his injury and his death.  The trial court's award of $20,000 per day for ten days is within the statute.  Second, she is seeking medical expenses.  The award of $35,000 for these costs is proper.  



King Boiler Company, Inc. v. Ashbrook, 319 A. 2d 760 (New Goverland, 1978)

Summary of Facts: Jason Ashbrook, a boiler room worker at Eastern Steel Company, was severely burned when a boiler made by King Boiler Company exploded.  Expert testimony for the defendant, King Boiler Company, included evidence that the boiler met the Federal Industrial Boiler Safety Standards and the standard of the Federation of Boiler Operators, Mechanics, and Workers for construction and operation of industrial boilers.  The jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff, finding the defendant negligent.  Defendant appealed on the ground that the verdict was contrary to the weight of the evidence.  Defendant argues that it was not negligent because the boiler was shown to have met the relevant safety standards in the industry.

Holding: The issue of whether the boiler was safe was a question of fact for the jury. The standard for negligence is whether the defendant’s actions were reasonable.  In this case, the standard is whether the boiler met reasonable expectations of safety. Certainly, a major factor in determining boiler safety is whether a boiler meets federal and other safety standards.   Such standards are regulatory standards, however, and not necessarily standards for legal liability.  A jury could find that government and industry standards are too low.  In other words, a jury could find that for a boiler to meet reasonable expectations of safety, it must meet higher standards than those required by the government and the boiler industry.  The jury’s decision is affirmed, and the appeal denied.



Week 3 - Feb. 28

Fat Americans Sue Fast Food Firms

This session is designed to further familiarise students with examples of tort law cases and relevant concepts which may be applied to the mock trial.

Introduction:

Begin by defining “Product Liability Actions” and discussing it very briefly as a class.

Standard Governing Product Liability Actions

http://www.streetlaw.org/content.asp?ContentId=181
(A) 
Providers of products sold to the public may be held strictly liable for any injuries or harm caused by that product regardless of fault or intent of the seller of the product

(B) 
To support a finding of strict liability, the plaintiff must prove by a preponderance of evidence that:

 i) a product is unreasonably dangerous and 

ii) a less dangerous alternative or modification was economically practical. 

(C) 
A product is unreasonably dangerous if, at the time of sale, the product in its design and/or manufacture is dangerous beyond the expectation of the ordinary consumer.

(D) 
A plaintiff's failure to discover or guard against an unreasonably dangerous product is no defense to strict liability in this section.  However, such a failure on the part of the plaintiff may reduce his or her recovery.

Warm-up Listening 1: Product Liability (1m22s)

Play this recording once.  Take up the answers as a class.

Listen to the first recording concerning product liability in the States.  Answer the following questions.

1. What was GM found guilty for and how much did they have to pay the plaintiffs?  What were these payments called?

· Selling a defective product, namely cars with gas tanks that exploded when the cars were rear-ended.

· Almost $5 billion.  These awards are called “punitive damages” (see def’n p. 11)

2. How does the statistical study greatly differ from general public opinion concerning product liability lawsuits?

· people seem to think the courts are out of control (awarding outlandish amounts of money to people who have been hurt by products, to punish the company selling them)

· however, the study shows that “the vast majority of people who file personal injury lawsuits never get punitive damages”

Warm up Listening 2: Why so Litigious? (0m51s)

Play this recording once (or twice).  Take up the answers in class and explain them if necessary.  Try to answer as a class the questions posed at the end of this recording.

Listen to the second recording and fill in the missing phrases in the transcript below.

This is “Talk of the Nation,” I’m Neal Cummin in Washington.

Last week President Bush made a stop in Madison County, Illinois to speak about tort reform.  Standing in front of 150 doctors in white medical coats, the president said, “Frivolous litigation pushes the total cost of our tort system to billions of dollars each year.”  This is one of several stops the president made last week in a campaign to win congressional and public support for change.  It’s a debate that we’ve addressed on this program in the past and will address again as the issue moves ahead.  But today, we hope to talk about the underlying issue of motive.   Why do so many people decide to file suits in the first place and why do so many more decide not to?  We’re not talking about divorce or domestic disputes, but torts, claims for damage.  Do people sue because they’re angry, as an aspect of political activism, or just to get some answers?


Next, as a class, you will discuss the case of overweight Americans suing fast food companies.  Take up the following questions (should already have been answered as homework):

Questions on “Fat Americans sue fast food firms”

1. Is this an example of a tort action?  Intentional or unintentional tort?  Explain.

Yes.  Unintentional tort: negligence.  According to the plaintiff, fast food companies (defendant) did not intend the harm, but caused harm anyway by not sufficiently informing the public of the potential health dangers of eating their meals. 

2. Do you believe these overweight Americans to be justified in their accusation?  Why or why not?

If there’s still time (hopefully there is!), an open discussion may follow.  Here are some possible discussion starters:

· In the fast food article, a spokesman for a restaurant industry group jokes about suing moms for feeding their children fattening food and thus causing health problems like obesity.  But, could you ever see this actually happening?  Could it ever be justifiable?  Discuss.
· Do Americans tend to sue more than the French?  Are they too litigious? Why, do you think?
Definitions:

preponderance: Superiority in weight, force, importance, or influence.
lawsuit: an action brought in a court for the purpose of seeking relief from or remedy for an alleged wrong
litigious: Tending to engage in lawsuits 

to ridicule: To expose to ridicule; make fun of
legal action: a judicial proceeding brought by one party against another; one party prosecutes another for a wrong done or for protection of a right or for prevention of a wrong



(Allow time at the end of class (5-10 mins.):

· Get Involved!: Option 1 students must choose a date and a topic for their English Society event today.  Use sheet on p. 8.  Refer them to the calendar (p. 7).

HOMEWORK FOR WEEK 4 (Optional)

If any students did not attend the “Erin Brockovich” viewing (Feb. 22), encourage them to watch the movie before next class.  This is obviously an optional activity.

Product Liability – Transcript

http://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=1053914
1m22s
Was the verdict a model of justice or a sign that juries are going nuts?  I’m talking about Friday’s verdict in the General Motors trial in Los Angeles.  A jury ordered GM to pay almost 5 billion dollars to six people who got burned when their car was rear-ended and their GM gas tank exploded.  GM will appeal that verdict and to some people, it’s just one more example of how juries will award outlandish amounts of money to punish companies for making defective products.  They call those awards “punitive damages.”  You’ve heard the legendary examples, like the jury that ordered McDonald’s to pay millions of dollars to a woman who spilled scalding coffee on herself.  Stories like these have been prompting some states to pass new laws.  Legislators say it is time to restrict how much money you can get if a defective product injures you, because they say the courts seem to be out of control.  But, a nationwide study gives a dramatically different picture.  Michael Rustadt is a law professor at Suffic Law School in Boston.  He and a battalion of researchers examined every personal injury case they could find in the entire country over a 30-year period.  And Rustadt discovered that the vast majority of people who file personal injury lawsuits never get punitive damages.  They might get compensation to cover their medical bills and time off work, that sort of thing, but not punitive damages.

Why So Litigious? – Transcript

http://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=4280703
0m51s

This is “Talk of the Nation,” I’m Neal Cummin in Washington.

Last week President Bush made a stop in Madison County, Illinois to speak about tort reform.  Standing in front of 150 doctors in white medical coats, the president said, “Frivolous litigation pushes the total cost of our tort system to billions of dollars each year.”  This is one of several stops the president made last week in a campaign to win congressional and public support for change.  It’s a debate that we’ve addressed on this program in the past and will address again as the issue moves ahead.  But today, we hope to talk about the underlying issue of motive.   Why do so many people decide to file suits in the first place and why do so many more decide not to?  We’re not talking about divorce or domestic disputes, but torts, claims for damage.  Do people sue because they’re angry, as an aspect of political activism, or just to get some answers?
Thursday, 25 July, 2002, 23:33 GMT 00:33 UK 

http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/americas/2151754.stm
[image: image3.png]


Fat Americans sue fast food firms
More than half of all adult Americans are overweight.
A group of overweight Americans have sued several US fast food giants accusing them of knowingly serving meals that cause obesity and disease. 

‘I always thought it was good for you. I never thought there was anything wrong with it.’ 

Caesar Barbar The lawsuit - filed in New York State Supreme Court in the Bronx - says that McDonald's, Burger King, Wendy's and Kentucky Fried Chicken misled customers by enticing them with greasy, salty and sugary food. 

"The fast-food industry has wrecked my life," Caesar Barbar, one of plaintiffs, told the New York Post. 

Mr Barbar - a 57-year-old maintenance supervisor who weighs almost 125 kilograms (275 pounds) - said he regularly ate fast food until 1996, when a doctor warned his diet could potentially kill him. 

Mr Barbar said he had already had two heart attacks and has been suffering from diabetes. 

'Bad eating habits' 

"I always thought it was good for you. I never thought there was anything wrong with it," he said. 

A recent assessment of obesity in the US found that more than a half of all adult Americans were overweight. 

About 54 million adults were classified as obese - that is people who are about 15 kilos or more over the healthy norm based on height - and hundreds of thousands of deaths each year were attributed to obesity-related diseases. 

Health groups say one of the biggest culprits for this growing epidemic is junk food, and that the best time to break the cycle between obesity and bad eating habits is when people are young. 

Fast food companies - such as McDonald's and Burger King - are currently participating in a campaign urging young Americans to eat a healthier diet. 

A spokesman for a restaurant industry group has ridiculed the legal action. 

"He must be aware that fully two-thirds of all foods consumed in America are consumed in people's homes. Is he proposing that we sue America's moms?" John Doyle of the Center for Consumer Freedom told ABC News.

 Week 4 – Mar. 7

Erin Brockovich

Introduction:

Has anyone not seen the movie?  Have members of the class read aloud the summary of the movie.  Answer any questions.

Erin Brockovich is an unemployed single mother, desperate to find a job, but is having no luck. This losing streak even extends to a failed lawsuit against a doctor in a car accident she was in. With no alternative, she successfully browbeats her lawyer to give her a job in compensation for the loss. While no one takes her seriously, with her trashy clothes and earthy manners, that soon changes when she begins to investigate a suspicious real estate case involving the Pacific Gas & Electric Company. What she discovers is that the company is trying quietly to buy land that was contaminated by hexavalent chromium, a deadly toxic waste that the company is improperly and illegally dumping and, in turn, poisoning the residents in the area. As she digs deeper, Erin finds herself leading point in a series of events that would involve her law firm in one of the biggest class action lawsuits in American history against a multi-billion dollar corporation.

Source: http://www.imdb.com/title/tt0195685/plotsummary
Summary written by Kenneth Chisholm

to browbeat: to intimidate, to bully

earthy: indecent or uninhibited or simple

class action: A lawsuit brought by one or more plaintiffs on behalf 

of a large group of others who have a common interest.
Play the following three scenes.  Have the students answer the questions while watching the scenes.  Take up the questions after each scene.

Scene 9 – Erin B. talks to a sick Hinkley resident, Donna Jensen, to inquire about real-estate records with PG&E. 

1. What did PG&E want from the Jensens?  What do the Jensens feel about this?

· They want to buy their house.

· They don’t want to move and uproot the kids; don’t have the energy (sick); if they don’t pay enough, it’s not worth it.

2. Why were Donna Jensen’s family’s medical records in with the real estate files according to her?

- There is so much correspondence, so she just keeps it all in one place.

3. Why does Donna Jensen think that PG&E paid for her family’s visits to the doctor?  Why is this surprising?

· because of the chromium (in the water)

· surprising because she already knows about the chromium in the tap water!

4. What does Donna take a sip of?  Why is this relevant?

- water with lemon.  The water is poisonous and is soon suspected by Erin to be causing Donna’s sickness.  She is unknowingly poisoning herself.

Scene 15 – Erin B. and Mr. Masry try to convince some residents of Hinkley.

1. Why did PG&E tell the residents of Hinkley about the water problem?

· to establish a statute of limitations

· you only have 1 year from the time that you learn about the problem to file suit. So, PG&E told everyone that the water was “not perfect” (euphemism), and if no one sues in a year, they are in the clear.

2. What do the residents of Hinkley decide to do?

- Agree to collaborate with Mr. Masry’s law firm against PG&E (by threatening them with a lawsuit).

Scene 19 – Lawyer Mr. Masry and company have their first meeting with PG&E to try to settle without a lawsuit.

1. How much does PG&E offer as a settlement?  What does Erin think of this offer and why?  At least how much does she want?

· $20 million

· pisses her off; lame-ass offer.  It’s nothing when split between all those plaintiffs (400+), and it’s nothing when considering the sickness and pain these clients are subject to.

· $200 million

2. Why does Miss Sanchez decide in the end not to drink the water in front of her?

· Erin tells her it’s from a well in Hinkley. (Hinkley water is said to contain high levels of hexavalent chromium which is poisonous.)

In the event where there is time left over at the end of class, a class discussion is to follow.

Discussion topics

1. Why is the story of Erin Brockovich so inspiring?

Follow-up question: How is this story similar to “David & Goliath”?

2. This is an excellent example of tort law and product liability.  If negligence is considered an unintentional tort, was PG&E negligent? (see def’ns p. 11, stu10)

Note: PG&E was strictly liable for knowingly selling their defective (poisonous) product (i.e., the water) to the residents of Hinkley.  Chromium 6 was used in the water to prevent corrosion of the pipes (i.e. a rust inhibitor).

( Here is a humorous conversation between two people on this matter.

Teacher:  You may want to have two students role play this conversation and then strike up a discussion or debate on the topic afterwards.  If no time, just tell interested students to read it on their own time.

Steve says: (11:06:22 PM)
   K... so negligence is considered an unintentional tort right?  Meaning that, for example, to be negligent, is to cause an injury of some kind unintentionally, however you failed to provide the level of care expected in a given situation.

Joe says: (11:06:32 PM)
   yikes

   well, it's a good job you have a legal expert like me on hand for this kind of query…

   ummmm

Steve says: (11:07:13 PM)
   In the case of Erin Brockovich versus PG&E (gas & electric company)... do you think that PG&E is guilty of negligence?

Joe says: (11:07:26 PM)
   errrrrrrrrr…

   yuh-huh!

Steve says: (11:07:38 PM)
   but, they KNOWINGLY sold the poisonous water to the residents of Hinkley

Joe says: (11:07:51 PM)
   I don't know if it's considered unintentional…

Steve says: (11:07:52 PM)
   BUT, they will always say that it was unintentional harm right?

I mean… even though they knew deep down that all the sickness and death was due to their water?

Joe says: (11:08:08 PM)
   yeh exactly, and they have a responsibility to make sure it's safe.

   your guess is as good as mine...

Steve says: (11:08:35 PM)
   right.. that is true.

   bah.. I'm not an expert at this stuff either.

   technically, they were not negligent... they were actively harming/endangering people.

Joe says: (11:09:04 PM)
   this should not be troubling you at 11.08pm.

   yeh, although did Erin prove that?

Steve says: (11:09:31 PM)
   BUT, in a court of law, I think it would be treated as negligence because they didn't put the Chromium 6 in the water to hurt the residents, that was just an effect... they put it in the water to save their pipes!

   

bah

Joe says: (11:09:55 PM)
   did Erin prove they knew it was harmful? I think she did, you know

Steve says: (11:10:02 PM)
   yes.... but so?

Joe says: (11:10:27 PM)
   so, it's something worse than negligence,   no?

Steve says: (11:10:33 PM)
   McDonald's knew that scalding hot coffee is harmful, but failed to provide a warning.  That was still negligence.

  …because they didn't intend on hurting the woman who sued them

Joe says: (11:11:12 PM)
   that's not negligence, that's just mistakenly assuming people have a basic level of intelligence

Steve says: (11:11:20 PM)
   lol.  Exactly!

Week 5 - Mar. 14

The Walkerton E. Coli Tragedy
Students are expected to have read the articles before class.  If necessary, have individuals from the class briefly summarise what happened in Walkerton, Ontario in spring 2000.

Discuss as a class:  ask these questions to the class (not in student pack).

“It all could have been prevented.”

1. With regular measures and care, this tragedy would never have happened. Isn’t that usually the case?

2. What is the offence? That is, if one was to sue, what would one be suing for?

negligence: A failure to conform your conduct in a situation to the level of care expected of the hypothetical reasonable person, where that failure is the proximate cause of injury to another.

strict liability: strict liability is the legal principle that a person or company which sells a product in a defective condition that is unreasonably dangerous to the ordinary user may be liable for any resulting property damage or physical injuries.

3. Would this be a tort lawsuit?  Why?

Yes.  Negligence is a form of tort (namely an unintentional tort). (See week 2)

4. Who could possibly be at fault?  Is there more than one guilty party?  Brainstorm as a class all the parties that could possibly be at fault and possible reasons why.  (Write all on the board.)

Ex. The town, the Walkerton Public Utilities Commission, Stan Koebel, Frank Koebel, the cattle farmers in the area, the sewage plant, Mike Harris’ government (Ontario),…

Activity - Role-play

Divide the class in two.  One side represents the plaintiff and the other the defendant.  

Class must collectively decide beforehand who will be the party sued.  Both sides of the class must prepare their arguments (by answering the questions below and discussing as a group).  Have the plaintiff introduce their arguments first.  Make sure all students get a chance to speak (let them know beforehand that you want to hear each student speak).  Commence debate.  End by asking the class for their personal opinion on the matter.

Here is the role-play situation:

Plaintiff: You are a resident family of Walkerton, Ontario.  You have been greatly affected by the water disaster.  Your 6 year old son has recently died from the E.Coli bacteria found in the town water after weeks of pain and anguish, sick in the hospital.  You are suing.

Defendant:  (to be chosen by the class.)  You are pleading NOT guilty. (Note: you may plead guilty or partially responsible for the tragedy, but you do not believe this particular lawsuit to be fair.)

Preparation:

Plaintiff: Answer the following questions in order to develop your testimony.

1. What exactly are you suing for?

2. How much are you asking for in compensatory damages, and for what exactly? (break it down)
3. Why and how is the defendant at fault for what you are suing for?

Defendant:  Answer the following questions in order to develop your defence.

1. Why do you believe this particular lawsuit to be unfair?

2. Who else could possibly be responsible for the plaintiff’s son’s death?

3. If you believe to be partially at fault, could you possibly put forward a more appropriate compromise?



Leave time at the end of class to assign homework for week 6.  Remind students that they will be choosing roles in the Ricki Jones V. Metro City lawsuit next week.
HOMEWORK FOR WEEK 6

Read the “Statement of Stipulated Facts” of the Ricki Jones V. Metro City case (pp.26-7 stu23-4).  Read as much as you need to of the following attached documents (pp. 35-45 stu28-38) in order to choose who you would like to role-play.  Make sure you have more than one choice as you may not get your first choice.  Refer to p. 31 (stu27) to see when you will have to present in the role-play lawsuit depending on your choice.


Deadly E.coli in Ontario.

Contaminated water supply in Walkerton, Ontario kills seven

Dateline: 05/31/00

http://canadaonline.about.com/library/weekly/aa052900a.htm
Seven people are now dead, and a dozen remain in regional hospitals, as Walkerton, Ontario deals with a town water supply contaminated by E.coli bacteria. Hundreds of others have been sick with bloody diarrhea, cramps and nausea, and it could be another week before Walkerton residents can drink tap water safely again, according to the CBC. Schools will remain closed for the rest of this week at least. […]

For days the Walkerton Public Utility Commission denied there was anything wrong with the water, and it wasn't until the Grey-Bruce County medical officer ordered independent water samples that he was able to confirm the presence of E.coli bacteria in Walkerton's water supply.

Officials are not sure how the contamination in Walkerton started, although there has been speculation that cattle manure or sewage may have got into a town well after heavy storms and flooding in the area. A machine that mixes chlorine to treat the water was also malfunctioning. […]

[image: image4..pict]Canada's worst-ever E. coli contamination
CBC News Online | Updated Dec. 20, 2004

http://www.cbc.ca/news/background/ walkerton/

"We have a terrible tragedy here." 

Mike Harris With those words, then Ontario Premier Mike Harris waded into the Walkerton, Ont., water crisis on Friday, May 26, 2000. He addressed a crowd of reporters and residents in the normally quiet town in Ontario's rural heartland – a part of the province that normally gears up for a flood of fun seekers at this time of year. 

Instead, Walkerton began the transition into the town "where those kids died from E. coli." It's not what anyone wanted, but it was the end result. Reporters from around North America descended on the area, trying to get to the bottom of Canada's worst-ever outbreak of E. coli contamination. Seven people died from drinking contaminated water. Hundreds suffered from the symptoms of the disease, not knowing if they too would die. 

According to the local medical officer of health, it all could have been prevented. Dr. Murray McQuigge stunned the country with his revelation on CBC Radio on May 25, 2000 that the Walkerton Public Utilities Commission knew there was a problem with the water several days before they told the public. 

The impact of discovering that the young and the old in a small Ontario town were dying from drinking town water will reverberate throughout Ontario and the country for years. Premier Harris immediately blamed the former NDP government for loosening water standards. Within a week he had announced public inquiry that wound up laying part of the blame for the Walkerton disaster on cutbacks ordered by the Harris government. 

Koebel asks for privacy 

The manager at the heart of the controversy, Stan Koebel, was in charge of the Public Utilities Commission. When the local medical officer of health, Dr. Murray McQuigge, revealed that Walkerton had a problem with its water, he said the PUC knew the water supply was contaminated days before the public was informed. 

At the time Koebel said he was shocked, and it was revealed he was under the care of a doctor. He made one brief appearance before the hordes of reporters, but his goal was to stay in isolation. His friends insisted he would never knowingly put people at risk. 

The inquiry 

Koebel's name came up many times as the inquiry into Walkerton's water opened in the town in October, 2000, five months after the trouble first came to light. The inquiry was called to look into how the water was contaminated with the deadly strain of E. coli bacteria. It found that illnesses could have been prevented if Koebel had monitored chlorine levels in the drinking water. It also pointed to deregulation of water testing and cuts to the Environment Ministry by the Ontario government as contributing factors. 

Ontario addresses water safety 

It didn't take long for a political battle to ensue. On May 29, 2000, a clearly shaken Ontario Environment Minister Dan Newman called a news conference to say changes would be made to ensure that the province's water supply remained safe. "If there is something positive that can ever come out of an event like this, it is that changes be made to ensure that it doesn't ever happen again," he said at the Ontario legislature. The Ontario Tories lost the next election to the Liberals, who campaigned, in part, on providing safer drinking water. 

Economic impact 

A 60-page study released in November 2001 concluded that the Walkerton water tragedy cost at least $64.5 million and an estimated $155 million, if human suffering was factored in. Each household in the town of 5,000 spent about $4,000 on average as a result of the contamination, for a total of $6.9 million. The study weighed in the costs and benefits of providing safe drinking water. 

The study also concluded that real estate values in Walkerton fell a total of $1.1-million as a result of the contamination of the water supply. Costs for the town's businesses, for items such as bottled water or disinfecting and replacing equipment, are estimated at $651,422. 

Lost revenues from May 1, 2000, to April 30, 2001, were estimated at $2.7 million. The study estimates that it cost more than $9 million to fix the town's water system, while the Ontario government spent about $3.5 million on legal fees and another $1.5 million to supply clean water to institutions. 

On March 25, 2003 Stan Koebel and his brother Frank were charged with public nuisance, uttering and forgery and breach of public duty. Frank Koebel was the foreman of the town Public Utilities Commission. On November 30, 2004, the pleaded guilty. Three weeks later, Stan Koebel was sentenced to a year in jail. Frank Koebel was sentenced to nine months house arrest. 

Ontario Superior Court Justice Bruce Durno took more than two hours to read out and explain his ruling. He stressed there was never any intent on the part of the Koebels to harm anyone, but found them negligent in discharging their duties. 

Week 6 - Mar. 21

Ricki Jones V. Metro City - Introduction
Topic:  

Ricki Jones V. Metro City

Author: 

Kamina Henderson, D.C. Street Law Project

Source:

http://www.streetlaw.org/content.asp?ContentId=181
Organization: 
D. C. Street Law

Address: 
1600 K Street NW, Suite 602, Washington, DC 20006 

Issues: 
Strict liability and negligence. Sam had AIDS for several months, died after drinking water containing Pindia, a parasite found in the Metro City tap water. His parents are suing Metro City claiming the city was liable for selling an unreasonably dangerous product to the public and also claiming the city was negligent in not flushing the pipes with chlorine before levels of Pindia became a heath risk.

Witnesses Per Side: 
3

Primary Case Category: 
Wrongful Death



Teacher:

Students should have read the “Statement of Stipulated Facts” before class.  If deemed necessary, you may choose various students to summarise the case for the class.  Are there any vocabulary questions?

Discuss the answers to the following questions with the class:

1. What is Ricki Jones suing Metro City for?
Strict liability of selling their harmful product (city tap water) to the public and negligence causing his son’s deteriorated state and ultimately his death.

2. Review below the definitions of “strict liability” and “negligence.”  Apply this to the current case.  What then do the plaintiff and his witnesses have to show to win?
(see “Applicable Law” section below, p.28 stu24,  for definitions)

3. What is Metro City’s defence?
· water not unreasonably dangerous, ( not strictly liable

· provided adequate info to public, ( not negligent

4. To what measures did the city go when the levels of the Pindia parasite rose above acceptable health standards?
· received funding from government to test water quality

· issued a boil water advisory to residents

· issued emergency funds to replace most deteriorated water pipes

· finally flushing the water system with chlorine to kill Pindia parasite

Take up any questions concerning the trial.  Get students to sign up for the role-plays today, which will take place in the weeks to follow (see “possible roles” for instructions! pp. 28-9, sign up sheet p. 31).  



Statement of Stipulated Facts
All parties to this action do hereby agree and stipulate to the accuracy of the following facts:
On September 16, 1996, 24 year-old Samuel Jones died of pindiatosis in connection with AIDS.  Sam had AIDS for several months, but his health worsened after he drank water containing Pindia, a parasite found in the Metro City tap water. The numbers of this parasite had increased due to the poor condition of the city’s pipes.  Metro City is located in the state of New Goverland.

The Metro City Council became aware of Pindia in October of 1993, while testing for difficult to detect protozoa and bacteria in the city’s water system.  The city received special funding from the federal government, a one time payment of $200,000, for this testing as part of a national survey of the quality of drinking water.  After discovering the presence of Pindia, Metro City began testing the city’s water system twice a year.  The population of the Pindia rose as the Metro City water pipes steadily deteriorated.  

In June of 1996, the levels of Pindia rose above 300 per gallon of water, the federal threshold levels of minimal health risk.  Because the numbers of Pindia continued to rise, on July 29, 1996, the Federal Water Safety Advisory (FWSA) required the City of Metro City to issue a boil water advisory to all of its residents.  Additionally, the FWSA required the city to publish the warning in a locally-read newspaper.  The City Council sent notice to the residents and published the warning on the back page of the Metro City Times, the local newspaper.  The FWSA also issued emergency funds to the city to replace the most deteriorated section of the water system pipes.  As a result, by August 1996, the level of Pindia had leveled off at 400 per gallon.  Although 400 Pindia per gallon is a level safe for general public consumption, it poses a potentially serious health risk for those with weakened immune systems.

On September 1, 1996, the city began to flush the water system with chlorine, a chemical that kills Pindia.  On September 15, the levels of Pindia had dropped to 278 Pindia per gallon, a level below the threshold level of minimal health risk.  However, three people were proven to have died as a result of ingesting Pindia while it was at higher levels.  Sam Jones is one of them.             

Claims and Defenses
Ricki Jones, Sam’s parent, is suing Metro City under the alternative theories of strict liability and negligence.  Mr./Mrs. Jones claims that the city is strictly liable for selling an unreasonably dangerous product to the public.  In the alternative, Mr./Mrs. Jones is also claiming that the city was negligent in not flushing the pipes with chlorine before the levels of Pindia became a health risk and failing to provide adequate warning about Pindia’s potential fatal effect.

Metro City is arguing that the water was never unreasonably dangerous and therefore it should not be held strictly liable for selling it to the residents of Metro City.  Additionally, the city asserts that it was not negligent in its handling of the presence of the Pindia parasite.  The city claims it provided adequate information to the public about Pindia and that it took reasonable measures to prevent Pindia from becoming a serious health risk to the residents of Metro City.

Relief Requested
Plaintiff is seeking $3,080,000 in compensatory damages, calculated as follows:

$20,000 a year for 20 years = $400,000 for loss of consortium

$15,000 doctor and hospital bills for final stay in hospital

$5,000 for funeral costs

$1 million for pain and suffering of parents

$60,000 for pain and suffering for Sam

$1 million for punitive damages for Sam's death

$30,000 a year for 20 years = $600,000 for lost wages to estate

 
Defendant denies liability.  In the event that defendant is found liable, defendant claims that the estranged relationship of the deceased to his family does not warrant compensatory damages.  Additionally, the defendant argues that the amount being requested by the plaintiff is too high because the deceased was already afflicted with a terminal illness and had a short life expectancy.

Additional Stipulations
The parties have stipulated to the authenticity of the following items:

1. August 1-7, 1996 issue of Metro City Times, “Community Notices” section.  (See p. 44, stu37)
2. Metro City water quality advisory, August 1, 1996. (See p. 44, stu37)
3. Graph of Pindia population in Metro City water system, submitted by the Metro City Office of Public Utilities. (See p. 45, stu38)
The parties reserve the right to dispute any other legal or factual conclusions based on these items and to make objections to these items based on other evidentiary issues.



APPLICABLE LAW
Related Statutes
New Goverland CIVIL CODE § 22.   TORT ACTIONS
Sec. 22-325 Standard Governing Negligence Actions
(A)
To support a finding of negligence, a plaintiff must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that:

i) defendant owed plaintiff a duty of care;

ii) defendant breached that duty:

iii) defendant’s breach caused plaintiff’s injuries; and

iv) plaintiff suffered damages as a result.

(B)
 Comparative Negligence: In a negligence action, to assess damages, the finder of fact must:

i)  Determine the percentage of fault attributable to each party; and

ii) Reduce the amount of the damages due the plaintiff by the percentage of fault     
     attributed to the plaintiff.

iii) In a action for damages brought by any representative of an estate, who is also a 
     parent of the deceased, the actions of both the deceased and the parent must be     
     considered when applying the comparative negligence provisions. 

Sec. 22-340 Standard Governing Product Liability Actions

(A) 
Providers of products sold to the public may be held strictly liable for any injuries or harm        
 caused by that product regardless of fault or intent of the seller of the product

(B) 
To support a finding of strict liability, the plaintiff must prove by a preponderance of evidence that:

 i) a product is unreasonably dangerous and 

ii) a less dangerous alternative or modification was economically practical. 

(C) 
A product is unreasonably dangerous if, at the time of sale, the product in its design and/or     
manufacture is dangerous beyond the expectation of the ordinary consumer.

(D) 
A plaintiff's failure to discover or guard against an unreasonably dangerous product is no 
defense to strict liability in this section.  However, such a failure on the part of the plaintiff may reduce his or her recovery.
Sec. 22-347 Sovereign Immunity
The State of New Goverland and its cities and municipalities waive their rights to claim sovereign immunity in any tort actions in which they are defendants.



Definitions

deteriorated: To grow worse; degenerate
threshold: The point that must be exceeded to begin producing a given effect or result or to elicit a response: ex. a low threshold of pain. 



Possible roles:

Plaintiff and Witnesses:

1. Ricki Jones – plaintiff; parent of the deceased

2. Alex Foster – employee of Metro City Office Public Utilities

3. Dr. Pat Dawes – doctor specialising in infectious diseases (ex. AIDS)

Defendant and Witnesses:

4. Chris Baird – chair on Metro City Council

5. Tyler Johnson – volunteer at an AIDS clinic

6. Dr. Hunter Williams - a specialist in parasitology (ex. Pindia)
Defense Lawyers

7. Questioning Ricki Jones 
8. Questioning Alex Foster
9. Questioning Dr. Pat Dawes
Prosecution Lawyers

10.  Questioning Chris Baird
11.  Questioning Tyler Johnson
12.  Questioning Dr. Hunter Williams
Jury

13.  Deciding verdict
14.  Deciding verdict
Other

15. Secretary (various*)

16. Judge – Played by the lecteur! (Directs the proceedings of the case)

Instructions

There should be more roles than students in the class.  Make sure you have a cross-examining lawyer for each witness of either side.

So, for example, say you have only 10 people in your class who regularly show up.  You will have the following roles played:

Ricki Jones and one of the other prosecution witnesses 
= 2 ppl

Corresponding defense lawyers



= 2 ppl

Chris Baird and one of the other defense witnesses 

= 2 ppl

Corresponding prosecution lawyers 



= 2 ppl

2 jury members to decide on a verdict 


= 2 ppl

Total = 10 ppl

If you have 9 people, only have one jury member.

If you have 11 people, add a secretary

If you have 12 people, add instead another witness and a corresponding lawyer

etc… 

*You may want to have a different student play the secretary each week if you don’t have a set secretary.  Chose this student at random each week and refer them to the instructions below.

Instructions for students

· If you are a witness of any kind:

Read well in advance your corresponding statement provided (pp. 35-43, stu28-36).  Summarise in your own words your testimony from this statement.  Be prepared to present your summary to the class (( 5 mins).  You will be questioned by a lawyer of the opposing side.  Prepare in advance as best as you can your possible answers (i.e., know your position very well!).  In order to keep the role-play functioning, you are allowed to invent any facts, as long as it is consistent with the written account (this also applies to your answers to the questions posed).

· If you are a lawyer of any kind:

Read the statement of the person (of the opposing side) whom you will be questioning (pp. 35-43, stu28-36) .  Prepare a list of questions which you deem to be effective and appropriate.  Your goal is to show this person’s arguments/testimony faulty in some way or another in order for their case to be weakened.  You are encouraged to ask any questions that you think up on the spot as well (ex. after hearing a response).  You will be required to present your concluding arguments and remarks to the audience, judge, and jury after your questioning period (( 5 mins).

· If you are a member of the jury:

It is imperative that you attend all trial dates.  It is recommended that you take notes throughout in order to successfully prepare your final verdict.  Your role is to present the verdict in the final session of the trial.   If there are two of you, you may work together, but you must speak an equal amount.  Present your verdict (“guilty” or “not guilty”) along with the amount you are willing to award in compensatory damages and your reasons why you chose this verdict and this amount.  You must make sure your reasoning is well founded and explained logically.  The class (i.e. the audience) will then ask you questions to better understand your decision.

· If you are the chosen secretary:

You will provide a 1-2 min. max summary of the trial that took place the week before at the beginning of the class.  This is in order to refresh everyone’s memory as to where we stand in the trial and what has already taken place.  During the trial session the week before, take notes and ask any questions as an audience member would.

· On the days you are not role-playing, you will be an audience member, and your role is to:

Listen attentively to all the trial sessions.  Participate when possible by asking questions and providing your own comments to the various role-players of each session.  You must ask general comprehension questions or you may ask questions/provide remarks attacking one’s arguments or position.  You may address questions to an individual (ex. lawyer or witness) or to the entire group as a whole.  Do not be afraid to participate!  Your mark depends on it!

The witness statements are on pages 35-43 (stu28-36).  There is also written evidence after the statements on pages 44-5 (stu37-8) for your use.
DO NOT!!!

· read your presentation

· come unprepared to class (without rehearsing beforehand)

· do everything the night before

· speak in French during class (even to explain things to others)

· speak while others are speaking (this is very disrespectful!)

Anyone who commits these in-class misdemeanours 

will be duly penalised.

Ricki Jones V. Metro City:

Sign up Sheet








    Student Names

Date





Group 1


Group 2


Mar. 28, 2005 – Part 1

· Ricki Jones (#1)

· Def. Lawyer (#7)

· _________________

· _________________



Apr. 4 – Part 2

· Plaintiff witness (#2 or 3)

· Def. Lawyer (#8 or 9)

· _________________

· _________________



Apr. 18 – Part 3

· Chris Baird (#4)

· Pros. Lawyer (#10)



Apr. 25 – Part 4

· Defense witness (#5 or 6)

· Pros. Lawyer (#11 or 12)



May 2 – The Verdict

· Jury (#13 and/or #14)

Week 7 – 10 - Mar. 28 – Apr. 25

Ricki Jones V. Metro City

Role-play trial parts I – IV

Teacher:

Students are required to come fully prepared to the trial day that they are presenting on.  Direct the proceedings of the trial, but play a minimal part.  The point of the mock trial is to evaluate the students’ spoken English.  Each time a student presents his testimony/argument/verdict etc. view this similar to an oral presentation and evaluate accordingly (ex. you can use the evaluation sheets).  The first four weeks of the mock trial should run similarly.  Here is an example of how you may want to run the class.

1. Have the secretary summarise what has happened previously in the trial (i.e., the session the week before).

2. Call upon your first witness.  Have them present their statement to the class.

3. Call upon the cross-examining lawyer who will question this witness.

4. Have this lawyer present his concluding remarks/arguments.

5. If you have another witness and corresponding lawyer, repeat steps 2-4.

6. Make sure you leave ample time for a class discussion session and commentary.  They may also ask questions to any of the presenting members at this time. (If you have 2 witnesses and 2 lawyers presenting in one session, this may not be feasible.)

7. Conclude the session and introduce next week’s trial session to remind presenting students.

(Remind students in week 10 that their Get Involved! written work is due next week (week 11).  (Exceptions only for students who have scheduled activities in that week.)

Week 11 - May 2

Ricki Jones V. Metro City

Role-play trial part V – The Verdict

Teacher:

The final trial session is dedicated to the presentations concerning the outcome of the trial, the verdict. Here is an example of how you may want to run the class.

1. Have the secretary summarise what has happened previously in the trial (i.e., the sessions the weeks before).

2. Call upon your jury member(s) to present their verdict.

3. After the presentation, the class members are required to ask questions to the jury member(s) as to why they came to the verdict, etc.

4. A discussion of the verdict is to follow.  Try to elicit the students’ personal opinions on the trial and see if you have conflicting opinions (great for debate!).

5. A discussion of the mock trial is then to follow.  Find out what the students thought about it and whether they like it better or worse than oral presentations.  Ask the students exactly what they liked about it and what needs to be improved.  Try to write down a summary to discuss later with the lecteurs.

6. Congratulate all students for a job well done! (if applicable ()



(Make sure you collect all the Get Involved! written submissions today! 

Reminder: Option 3-5 students must hand in their website submissions electronically.

Leave time at the end of class to…

Introduce what will be accomplished next week:

· There will be a feedback and discussion session.  You, the lecteur, will provide all students with general feedback as an assessment of their oral English and participation.  Students are asked to prepare any related questions they may have in advance.  You may want to make this mandatory homework (ex. every student must prepare a question regarding spoken English to ask you next week).

· An open discussion regarding spoken English is to follow

Week 12 - May 9

Feedback and Discussion

Teacher:

Firstly, explain to the students that the goal of this class is to provide them verbally with a general assessment of the spoken English encountered throughout the semester, areas where students have improved and areas that still need work.  Provide constructive criticism and specific comments for individual students.

Throughout the semester, you will have encountered many language errors uttered by the students.  You should prepare a list of all the most common errors and present them to discuss and correct as a class.  Students should be urged to take notes.

Try to find enough time to discuss the following areas:

· Common grammar and vocabulary errors

· Common pronunciation, intonation, and accentuation errors

· What needs the most work

· What have been the most improved aspects

· Provide an evaluation of their general spoken English in terms of comprehensibility

· Provide individual comments to certain students (optional)

Lastly, open the floor to discussion and answer any questions the students may have.

If time, discuss the course with the students to get their opinions:  what they did and did not like, what they would do differently, etc.  Take notes of the most important points to discuss later with the lecteurs (especially in order to know how to improve the syllabus for next year!).

RICKI JONES - WITNESS STATEMENT
(Plaintiff)

My name is Ricki Jones.  I am forty-seven years old and I am currently vice president of a consulting firm, Shannon and Totes, here in Metro City.  My spouse, Terry, and I live in a quiet, suburban section of Metro City.  Our children have all attended elementary and secondary schools in Metro City.  I have three children: Tracey, age 17, James, age 14, and Sam, my oldest child, who would have turned 25 next month.

Sam was the light of my life.  Terry and I were newlyweds barely out of college when we discovered that we were going to have a baby.  At that time Terry was working only part-time and I was struggling at a small consulting firm.   Somehow, we made it work.  I had to work long hours during the week, but Terry and I made sure that we spent quality time with Sam on weekends.  Because of our financial situation, Terry and I decided to wait to have more children until things changed.  We focused on raising Sam, and for seven years he was our only child.

When Sam was about six, both Terry and I began to see a payoff in our hard work.  I received a promotion and a significant increase in my salary.  Since Sam was in school, Terry began to work longer hours.  It was around this time that Terry and I had Tracey.  When Tracey was born, Terry and I decided that it would not be fair for either one of us to have to sacrifice our promising careers.  Therefore, we hired a babysitter to care for the children while we were at work. The children got along and performed very well in school.

Sam was extremely popular in high school and girls were always calling our house for him.  Sam was a varsity football and basketball player and a “B” student.  He dated, but really had only two serious girlfriends while he was in high school. 

In 1989, when Sam was 17, he sometimes appeared to be lethargic.   I am anemic, which means I do not have enough iron in my blood.  We all figured that was Sam's problem also.  Sam went to the doctor to have his blood tested for anemia.  The doctor suggested that since Sam was admittedly sexually active, he should have his blood tested for HIV.  Sam agreed to be tested for HIV.  Several weeks later, the doctor called Sam into the office to disclose the results of the test.  When Sam came home from the doctor's office, I expected him to playfully complain about having to take iron tablets.  Instead, I could tell by the look on his face that something was terribly wrong.  Sam was anemic, but that, unfortunately, was the good news.  When Sam told Terry and me that he was HIV positive, our world fell apart.  We figured that Sam had sex, but we couldn't believe that he actually had unprotected sex.  With all the information, sex education and public service announcements about safe sex, we assumed that he practiced safe sex.

 
Looking back, we probably should have taken the family to counseling, but I suppose we felt that our family could overcome anything.  We told Sam that we still loved him and that we would give him all the support he needed. Terry and I insisted that he do the responsible thing and inform all of his previous sexual partners of his condition.  Once the news was out, Sam immediately lost his popularity.  He was shunned by his so-called friends and teammates.  Sam became reticent and introverted.  He dropped off the athletic teams.  However, Sam did maintain a B average. When he graduated from high school, he went off to Denoit University in Layhill, New York.  He wanted to go to college somewhere far enough away that people didn't know him. We had limited contact with him after he left for college.  He came home for holidays, but he was always very quiet, and he didn't really participate in family activities. 

Sam graduated from college in 1994, at the age of 22, and got a job working for a newspaper in Metro City.  In April of 1996, he was diagnosed with full blown AIDS.  He told us of his condition and he also told us that he was quitting his job.  We assumed that he wanted to travel the world or gain some other last chance life experiences.  Instead, Sam told us that he simply wanted to stay at home alone in his apartment.  I was shocked.  I insisted that he stay near us. We have a condominium, a one-room studio with a kitchenette, located about a block away from our house.   Before offering it to Sam, we rented it out for $500 a month.  Sam agreed to stay there so long as he could live alone.  Despite everything, Sam always wanted to maintain his independence.

 
Sometime in June of 1996, Sam began to get closer to his friends and family.  He went to the community play Tracey was in each of the three nights it ran.  He attended James’ soccer games some Saturdays.  Because he said that he needed private space, we rarely visited his apartment.  Our last visit at Sam’s apartment was at the very end of July.  He had lost weight, but aside from occasional weak spells, he really seemed just fine.  In fact, during that last visit, Sam agreed to go with the family on a trip to Spain during winter vacation.  I think that he was finally starting to come out of his shell.

I received a phone call from Tyler Johnson, a counselor who worked at a local AIDS clinic.  S/he called to tell me that Sam had stopped going to the clinic.  Quite frankly I was happy.  There were many times when Sam would come back from that clinic really depressed.  I think that those people spent too much time talking about HIV and AIDS.  I wanted Sam to concentrate on living and not on dying.  Besides, Sam was taking renewed interest in his family, and that was all the support he needed.  

It was the tap water that accelerated my son's death.  I remember when this whole Pindia scare first occurred.  Sometime during the fall of 1993, I remember seeing a report on water contamination on the news.  I was nervous about the water's contamination because I was worried about my family’s health.  The news report made it clear, however, that the water was safe for drinking.  Since no one in the city was reported to have gotten sick from the water, I thought the "water scare" was just a political scare tactic until August of 1996, when I received the public notice in the mail. The notice said that drinking the tap water could make people with HIV or AIDS very sick.  I tried to call Sam and warn him, but the phone was busy and I was on my way to work. I had a lot on my mind that week.  I was working on a huge proposal; I had to take James to a soccer championship in New York that weekend, and Tracey was at home with the flu.  Then I completely forgot about the water report.  I assumed that Sam heard the report himself or that his doctor had told him.  Anyway, I wasn’t worried because Sam always bought his water.  When Sam was in college he became a health fanatic.  He became a vegetarian and he said that he had decided to permanently switch over to bottled water because it tasted much better.

I am not sure whether Sam received or read the public notice.  Although Sam received the Metro Times until his death, I doubt he saw the tap water advisory on the back page of the last section of the paper.  This was front page news, not something to be hidden away in the community notices section of the paper that no one ever reads.

On September 13, 1996, I got the call that Sam had been taken to the hospital.  He hadn't been sick beforehand, so I was really worried.  Terry, the kids and I rushed over as soon as I heard just how sick Sam was.  When we got to the hospital it was a horrible scene.  Sam was hooked up to all of this equipment, and it was clear that he was not going to pull through.  The doctors let the family in so that we could say our goodbyes, but Sam was unconscious at the time.  I told him over and over how much we all loved him, but I will never know whether or not he heard me.  I still can't believe that my child is gone.

A week after Sam's death, Dr. Dawes told Terry and I that Sam’s death had been accelerated by a parasite in the tap water.  I was furious!  The city allowed its residents to drink contaminated water.  I blame Metro City for the death of my son.  They never should have allowed the water system to deteriorate to such a poor condition.  If they had simply flushed the water system with chlorine, my son would be alive today!  Moreover, the city did not take adequate steps to warn my son of the potential dangers of drinking the local tap water.  I want the city to pay for murdering my child.  It took valuable time away from Sam, and valuable time from my family that we could have spent with him for the remainder of his life. 




ALEX FOSTER - WITNESS STATEMENT

(Testifying for Plaintiff)

My name is Alex Foster. I have worked for the Metro City Office Public Utilities department for about thirteen years now.  I have a Bachelor’s of Science degree in Biology and a Master’s degree in Engineering.  I am one of a team of about six public utilities employees that monitors the conditions of the city’s drinking water.  I am the founder and president of the Metro City chapter of Nationalists Advocating Good Government (NAGG).  NAGG is a national organization created by citizens concerned that their local and federal governments are doing little to protect their citizens.  The organization has been in existence for seven years.  I created the Metro City chapter five years ago, after running for a seat on Metro City Council.  Today, there are sixty-eight active members of this chapter of NAGG.   I lost the election because I am more concerned about addressing real concerns and not just feeding people political baloney. 

 I opened the local chapter of NAGG because I am concerned about the drinking water in Metro City.  I want to be sure that these concerns get addressed one way or another. NAGG is concerned that the Metro City government ignores the needs of our citizens and instead focuses almost solely on politics and economics.  The Metro City Research Institute claims to be interested in healthy drinking water, but its recommendations are weak.  One of my campaign promises in my city council race was to cut off the city's funding for the Institute.  With a limited city budget, we can't afford a research center. The Federal Water Safety Advisory is a federal agency that monitors the safety of drinking water throughout the country.  As a condition of granting the money to Metro City to conduct specialized tests for bacteria and parasites in the water system, the Federal Water Safety 

Advisory required a team of public utility employees to take a week-long course taught by FWSA employees.  Since I am one of the people who tests the water, I was selected to take this course.  During the week, I learned various facts about Pindia including how to test for it, at which levels it becomes dangerous, and the symptoms and effects of ingesting large quantities of Pindia.

About two weeks after I completed the course, Metro City was approved by FWSA to receive funds to do a test for Pindia.  One October 12, two weeks after the funding was approved,  we tested the water for the presence of Pindia.  When our findings were first reported, the Metro City Council was reluctant to do any increased monitoring of the water.  However, our team of water testers presented a report about the potential health risks of Pindia if its levels become too high.  On October 17th,  I recommended that the Council approve spending the money to flush the water pipes with chlorine as soon as the Pindia levels reached 250.  That way,  we could maintain control of the number of Pindia before it posed any health risk.  This procedure costs about $600, 000.  Metro City Council Chair Chris Baird discouraged council members from voting for this idea.  S/he said that the bad taste of the water and the negative publicity that it would bring to the city would outweigh the positive effect of spending that much money for just a few people.  


I was really upset by the council’s disregard for the health of its citizens.  I thought that $600,000 was very little to pay to keep the citizens of this great city healthy.  The next night I organized a NAGG meeting.  The members of NAGG voted to focus on the government’s response to the Pindia issue. We felt that the response from our local council was inadequate.  Instead of replacing water pipes or flushing them with chlorine, we were afraid that the council was going to wait until the situation became health threatening.   From October through December, the members of NAGG organized a city-wide educational campaign.  We distributed flyers to citizens that stated that their local politicians were unconcerned about their health and more concerned about looking good to the public.  NAGG also gave citizens the number of the Metro City Public Utilities Office and the information phone number for Metro City Council.  We encouraged them to voice their concerns to their local politicians and to the public utilities office. The phone lines were flooded with concerned voting citizens.

After receiving this political pressure, Metro City Council realized that it had better pay attention to this issue.  Council members voted to increase the monitoring of the community water system from once to twice per year.  We were pleased with this small victory, but we were not satisfied.  Monitoring the levels of the parasite still did not decrease any health risks.  Although the levels of Pindia were not yet threatening, the possibility that they would become a health risk was very real.  I suggested to NAGG that we begin to write and call the Federal Water Safety Advisory about the problem.  Because NAGG kept the FWSA up to date on the problem, when the levels of Pindia began to reach health threatening levels, the FWSA took action. It forced the city to issue a public advisory and to publish a warning in the newspaper.  The FWSA contacted the Office of  Public Utilities, where I work,  to write and send out the public advisory.  My supervisor had me write the language of the advisory.    

  
 Pindia was first discovered in the water system in October of 1993.  After that, there was  a clear upward trend in the number of these parasites. It was not until September 1, 1996, almost three years later, that the city flushed the pipes with chlorine.  If it wasn’t for the efforts of my organization, NAGG, the city would not have done anything.  I hope the voters remember that the next time I run for a seat on Metro City Council!

Metro City tried to get by with fulfilling the bare minimum required by the FWSA, and look what happened.  As a result of the city’s reckless disregard for the community’s health, three people died and even healthy people became sick after ingesting large quantities of water.   The city claims that “only” 250 cases of reported illnesses were actually proven to be connected to the tap water.  That’s a lot of people!  However, there probably were many more cases that went unreported or were misdiagnosed.  Proving a connection between illness and Pindia is very difficult.  In an otherwise healthy person, the Pindia protozoa are flushed out of the system within two weeks, usually sooner.  Therefore, some people may have been sick, but the parasite was flushed out of their systems before they were able to discover the cause of their illness.

Let’s not forget that three people that we know of died as a result of Pindia.  Perhaps three is an insignificant number to these politicians, but it surely is not insignificant to the families of those who died.  NAGG has been in contact with each and every one of these families since the death of these people.  Sam Jones, Natasha Richardson, and Brian Johnson were all AIDS patients who were successfully surviving the effects of this devastating disease until they drank water infested with Pindia.     




DR. PAT DAWES
(Testifying for Plaintiff)

My name is Pat Dawes.  I am head of the Department of Infectious Diseases at Lincoln Presbyterian Hospital in Metro City.  I received my medical degree from University of Metro City in 1981, and I also completed my residency in infectious diseases there.  I have written a book on AIDS called LIVING WITH AIDS.  I specialize in infectious diseases, and for the past twelve years I have almost exclusively treated HIV positive and AIDS patients.

Sam Jones' parents, Ricki and Terry, came to see me a little over two years ago.  They said that their son was HIV positive and that he was returning to the area after four years of college.  They said that they had heard that I was the best in my field and that they wanted to make sure that their son received the best possible treatment for his condition.  I made it very clear to the Joneses that my fee was rather high, but they let me know in no uncertain terms that they would spare no expense in assuring that their son lived a life that was as long and as healthy as possible.  Over the last two and a half years, I have received approximately sixty thousand dollars in payments from Mr. and Mrs. Jones.  Today, I am being paid two thousand dollars to testify in court.  I think that this is a fair fee, considering the value of my time.  

When Sam first came to see me in the summer of 1994, he had HIV, but he did not yet have full-blown AIDS. HIV is the virus that breaks down the immune system.  AIDS refers to a number of life-threatening medical conditions that develop as a result of infection with HIV. In order to be diagnosed with AIDS, the patient's T-lymphocyte 

helper cells (T-cells) count must fall below 200.  The T-cells are responsible for activating the immune system when your body has an infection.  HIV destroys these cells so that the immune system can’t fight off infections.  Organisms such as yeasts, bacteria, and parasites that are usually kept at low levels by healthy immune systems can multiply and cause disease in an HIV infected individual.  A healthy person's T-cell count usually fluctuates between 600 and 1,600 T-cells in a cubic milliliter of blood.  This count may fall below 600 for a variety of reasons, not all of which are related to HIV or AIDS.  People with  immune systems between 200 and 500 T-cell counts have some immune system protection but may develop minor infections.  People with T-cell counts of 200 and below are severely immune-suppressed and are at high risk for developing life-threatening infections. When a HIV positive person’s T-cell count drop below 200, they are diagnosed with AIDS.  When Sam first came to see me, his T-cell count would fluctuate between about 220 to 270.  With the treatment I was giving him we were able to keep his T-cell count in that range for about two years. 

Despite my vigorous treatment programs, Sam's luck changed in mid-April of 1996.  At that time, Sam's T-cell count dropped to about 190.  Sam officially had AIDS.  When I gave Sam the news he was devastated.  He kept asking me to tell him how long he had left.  I made sure that he understood that even though he had AIDS, he could still maintain a healthy lifestyle for years if he took care of himself.  I told him that it was just very important that he took his medication, watched what he consumed, and avoided catching any illnesses that might weaken his immune system such as a cold, pneumonia or virus.  I gave Sam simple yet tasty recipes so that he could maintain a well-balanced, nutritional diet. Sam was young and in great physical shape.  There was no reason to believe that he would not have lived many more years.

Sam caught pneumonia sometime at the end of May 1996.  He was extremely sick and had to be hospitalized for about a week.  I wanted to call his parents, but Sam told me that he would consider it a breach of doctor-patient confidentiality if I let them know how sick he was.  I told him how foolish he was being, but I followed his wishes.  Sam paid the hospital bills for this particular stay out of his own savings account. By the time Sam got out of the hospital, his T-cell count was about ninety.  I made sure that Sam came to my office or the hospital at least once or twice a week.  In the beginning of July, however, Sam stopped coming to my office.  I thought that perhaps he had switched doctors.  I called him to see what was going on, but no one answered the phone.  I also sent him notices reminding him to come visit.  When I got no response, I assumed that he had started seeing a doctor at an AIDS clinic he had once mentioned.

When the report on the Metro City water came out in the beginning of August, I notified most of my patients, by phone or during their visits, that they should either boil their tap water for a minute before consuming it, or that they should simply use bottled water.  As I stated earlier, Sam did not answer the phone the two times my office tried to reach him, nor did he come in for his regularly scheduled visits.  I knew that if he drank even a couple of glasses of the water, he could become extremely ill and could eventually die.  Unfortunately, he was one of the few patients I could not reach. 

On September 13, 1996, Sam was brought into the emergency room of Lincoln Presbyterian Hospital by an ambulance.  He was extremely ill.  Fortunately, I was on rotation at the time, and as his examining physician I was able to talk with him.  I asked him a series of questions: whether he had been eating the foods I recommended, whether he had been taking his medicine, whether he had been avoiding exposure to conditions that could be detrimental to his weakened immune system, and whether he had been drinking purified water.  He answered yes to all but the last question.  I immediately requested that Sam's blood and stool be tested for a T-cell count and for the presence of Pindia.  Sam had approximately 20 T-cells, and the tests came back positive for the presence of the parasite.  I knew that in Sam's deteriorated condition, there was really nothing we could do for him except ease his pain.  When his family arrived at the hospital, I explained the situation to them.  Sam was unconscious at this time, due to a combination of the pain-killing drugs we had administered earlier and his impending demise.  I could see the pain Sam's family was experiencing as they said their goodbyes to his unconscious body.  Sam died three days later on September 16, 1996.  After Sam's autopsy, I received a pathologist's report confirming the fact that Sam's death had been accelerated by the presence of Pindia.  

In a healthy person the immune system prevents the parasite from having any permanent effect on the body.  Usually, a healthy person will not be affected by Pindia.  In the most severe cases, a normally healthy person will experience upset stomach, nausea, and watery diarrhea.  But in the majority of cases, the immune system prevents the parasite from having any noticeable effect at all and the parasite is flushed out of the system within two weeks after being ingested.  The public health monitoring of outbreaks of Pindia infection is difficult for at least four reasons.  First,  many physicians are not aware that the diarrhea and other symptoms are from Pindia and not the flu, stomach virus or some other cause.  Second, laboratories where samples are sent often do not test for Pindia when a doctor wants a stool sample tested for parasites.  Third, few states include pindiatosis as a reportable condition.  Fourth, as a result, there may have been many more outbreaks of pindiatosis than were reported.

  
When Sam was brought into the hospital, his T-cell count was in the low single digits.  In other words, he had no protection from the parasite in his system.  The parasite had free access to ravage his already weakened immune system.   The introduction of this parasite into his body ultimately resulted in Sam's death.

Had Sam not consumed the Metro City tap water, he may have lived for quite a bit longer.  It is impossible to say exactly how long.  This would depend on whether he was exposed to any attack on his immune system and many other factors.  If his condition remained the same, he could have lived for as many as five years. Had we been able to build up his T-cell count like we were trying to do, he may have lived even longer than that, perhaps ten years or longer.  The key for Sam was to avoid infections or any other attack on his immune system.  However, near the time of his death, Sam’s immune system's defenses were virtually non-existent.  Any attack on his immune system probably would have killed him.



CHRIS BAIRD - WITNESS STATEMENT
(Testifying for Defendant)

My name is Chris Baird and I have served as chair of the Metro City Council for five years.  I am a resident of Metro City and I have been so for all forty-three years of my life.  As a resident of Metro City, and the Chair of its Council, my primary concern has always been the well-being of the citizens of Metro City.  I am deeply saddened for the Jones family's loss and my sympathies are with them.  However, this tragedy is most definitely not Metro City's fault.  Metro City took every reasonable precaution to prevent such a tragedy from occurring.  Instead it is one person's unique vulnerabilities, and his failure to pay heed to numerous warnings, that has resulted in this misfortune.

In October 1993, as part of its annual survey, Metro City Public Utilities decided to use a new screening procedure to more accurately detect bacteria and parasites in the drinking water.  We received special funding, a one time contribution of $200,000, for this process from the federal government as part of a national survey on drinking water.  As a result of using this procedure, Metro City Public Utilities detected the presence of the Pindia parasite in the Metro City’s water system.  

The Metro City Council immediately consulted experts as to the significance of this information.  We were told that Pindia parasites are found in many water systems throughout the country.  Its presence is not a health problem unless its number goes above 300 Pindia per gallon of water.  At this time, our levels were only half that, so we were not alarmed.  However, we reported these findings in a statement issued to the media, because the members of Metro City Council believe in keeping the citizens well-

informed.  As a result of the statement we issued and the overzealousness of an organization called NAGG, there was a huge uproar.  Over seven thousand citizens flooded the Metro City Public Utilities Office with concerned questions, despite the fact that we had assured them in our statement that the water was completely safe for drinking.  The numerous phone calls we received slowed down the normal functions of the Metro City Public Utilities office and ultimately cost the city over one hundred thousand dollars.  This was quite a blow to our already financially weak city.

As a result of the discovery of  Pindia in our water, on October 30, 1993, the Council voted to increase the monitoring of the community water system to twice rather than once per year.  Unfortunately, we could not receive any more federal funds for this process and were forced to dip into the city’s treasury.  Although the increased monitoring of the water cost us $400,000 per year, the members of the Council agreed that the safety of our citizens was our first priority.  The inspections revealed a small but steady increase in the levels of the Pindia parasite.  This increase was largely due to the fact that the pipes through which the water runs were old and deteriorating.  Unfortunately, Metro City did not, and still does not have the 100 million dollars necessary to replace the entire water pipe system.

In April 1994, the Council debated flushing the pipes with chlorine to kill the parasite.  We decided not to do so because the parasite levels were still not threatening, and the chlorine would have made the water taste like a swimming pool.  Also, without replacing the water pipes, the chlorine would be a temporary solution.  It would cost us $600,000 a year to treat the entire water system with chorine, and we would have had to go through this procedure every year.  Therefore, flushing the pipes with chlorine at that time would have been an unnecessary expense that would have resulted in endless complaints.  Additionally, we were aware that once the community realized that the pipes were being flushed with chlorine, they might wrongly suspect that the problem was far more dangerous than it actually was.  We wanted to avoid unnecessary panic.

  
The Council’s decision not to add chlorine to the water was made during our yearly budget meeting. We had no extra or surplus funds to spend.  Most council members were elected after promising no new taxes.  Some had promised to reduce taxes.  City revenues were 10% lower than expected in 1994 and 1995, so we had to 

make cuts in education, welfare benefits, and other health services.  We did approve $7 million for a new sports arena, but that will bring in revenue and jobs, and will increase economic development.

It was Alex Foster who brought the federal authorities into this matter.  Foster is still upset over the fact that s/he was not elected to city council.  Big surprise!  What citizen would want to vote for such a nutcase?  Foster has been out to discredit the city council ever since the election.  S/he is using the water situation to make a big name in politics.  Foster brought the situation to the attention of the Federal Water Safety Advisory (FWSA).  The FWSA began monitoring the Pindia levels on June 1, 1996.  They concluded that Pindia population was increasing at a rapid rate, due to pipe deterioration.  By the end of July the levels of Pindia were at 400 per gallon. The FWSA told us that this level was above the threshold, but that the water was still safe for the general population to drink.  The FWSA also said that people with suppressed immune systems might experience a range of ill effects from drinking the water, ranging from mild discomfort to death.  However, the FWSA emphasized that death was a very minute possibility.   On July 29, the FWSA also required that in conjunction with them, we send a written public notice to all residents of Metro City and publish the report in the local newspaper. 

There was one section of pipe that was particularly deteriorated and which had been the major cause of the increase in the Pindia population.  On July 31, 1996, we received emergency federal funding of five million dollars to replace that section of pipe.  By the time all of the pipe replacement work was finished on August 15,1996,  the number of parasites in the water had leveled off at 400.  The population increase had slowed down considerably. 

The Metro City Council eagerly obliged with all federal requirements.  We immediately put together a public advisory, which was sent to every Metro City resident on August 1, 1996.  The same day, we also published the notice in the community events section of The Metro City Times, the local newspaper.  We didn't 

push for a front page story because we did not want the community to panic about the situation.  Making this report front page news would lead the community to believe that the problem was far more serious than it actually was.  However, we did use the same language in the newspaper notice that was used in the Metro City public advisory issued to all Metro City residents. Despite the fact that we knew death was highly improbable, we emphasized "fatality" as a possibility in both written statements.  


On August 15, 1996, the Council had an emergency meeting to decide how to further deal with the water crisis.  We decided to flush the pipes with chlorine, at a cost of $600,000.  This process was initiated on September 1 and by September 15 the Pindia levels  were at 278 Pindia per gallon.  We were obviously concerned with the health of our residents, but we really did not think that anyone would die as a result of consuming the water.  The only period of time I stopped drinking the Metro City tap water was when the pipes were being flushed with chlorine.  I hated the taste.  However, before then I drank water from the tap, and so did my family.  If I had any reason to think that this water was dangerous, I certainly would not have allowed my spouse and two young children to drink the water.

The city residents reacted quite strongly, first to the advisory, and later, to the flushing of the water system with chlorine.  Once again, the Office of Public Utilities was flooded with calls, about 700 in all (the Office of Public Utilities keeps records of public contacts).  My Council colleagues and I were also barraged with calls from residents, whose reactions included anger, confusion and concern.  In all, about 1300 calls were received by the Council.  About 80% of the callers to the Office of Public Utilities and the Council were concerned about high levels of Pindia, and demanded safer water.  However, the other 20% called to say that they did not want chlorine in the water.

Even the hospitals were hit by the panic.  People who experienced any physical discomfort were rushing to the local hospitals, certain that they were sick from ingesting the parasite.  The truth of the matter is that the outstanding majority of these people were actually sick for some reason that was completely unrelated to the tap 

water.  In fact, all of the doctors, clinics and hospitals in this area reported a total of only 250 cases that were actually confirmed to have been connected to the tap water.  I think that of the three hundred thousand people who drink Metro City water everyday, 250 illnesses is a relatively small number.  Most of these 250 people experienced only stomach cramps and/or diarrhea, but nothing serious.  Sam Jones, of course, was one of three people whose deaths were connected to the drinking of the tap water.  However, all three of these people had AIDS, were already in severely weakened physical states, and very close to death.  Each of these people contracted AIDS due to some lifestyle choice on their part.  I am saddened for their families and loved ones.  However, engaging in premarital sex is a choice, and it does have its consequences.

The Metro City Council took every reasonable precaution to protect the community.  In fact, we went far beyond the call of duty to keep our citizens safe and well-informed.  I am very sorry that Sam died, but it was certainly not due to any lack of vigilance on our part.  Metro City should not be held responsible for an unreasonable ignorance of, or disregard for, publicized notices.



TYLER JOHNSON
(Testifying for the Defendant)

My name is Tyler Johnson.  I am twenty-five years old, and I am a volunteer peer counselor at "House of Friends," an AIDS clinic located in Metro City at Thirteen McLean Avenue.  I am HIV positive, and I have been working at this clinic since I was first diagnosed HIV positive at age eighteen.  I lead support groups three times a week, one daytime session and two evening sessions.  In making this statement, I have struggled with whether I am violating Sam’s confidentiality.  However, my testimony is general common knowledge around the clinic.  Also, I am not a professional therapist.

I first met Sam Jones in the summer of 1994.  He had just moved back to the area after having spent the last four years in college somewhere in New York.  He said that he lived in the neighborhood, and that he had passed the clinic several times before.  I got the impression that this was the first time that he actually worked up enough nerve to come inside the clinic.  I told him how happy I was that he came to the clinic, and I tried to make him as comfortable as possible.  He was tense at first, but then he warmed up to me.  Sam told me that he was HIV positive and that he really needed someone to talk to.   I invited him to our counseling sessions and I told him that he should also take advantage of our government-subsidized medical care.  He agreed to come to counseling, but he told me that he had ample  medical coverage from his job.

For the first few weeks that Sam started coming to support groups, he did not participate in the discussions at all.  I wasn't concerned, because that is normal behavior for a newcomer to the group.  Even though Sam was silent, I could tell that he was 

deeply affected by the discussions.  I noticed that his eyes would mist up when people would discuss their families' reactions to the disease and how their lives have changed since contracting HIV.    

A few weeks later, Sam started sharing his own background during these counseling sessions.  He told us that he was a real star before contracting HIV.  He was a good student, a star athlete, and incredibly popular.  He also told us that he was a very lonely kid back then.  He said that his parents became really absorbed in their 

careers and then attempted to overcompensate by giving him material things.  He said that he tried to get the attention he needed from home from his classmates, by scoring big on the field and with the girls.  He said that his whole identity was tied up in this superficial popularity.  When everyone found out he was HIV positive, he not only lost his popularity, but he also lost his sense of identity.  Sam told us that he tried to "find himself" in New York, but he just ended up becoming more confused and withdrawn.  He said that it was hard for him to face the fact that he was sentenced to death.

All of the members of the group, myself included, worked to improve Sam's sense of self-worth.  We let him know that he could still live a fulfilling life with HIV.  I think that he was comforted by the fact that a couple of HIV positive people in the group had lived with HIV for over ten years without contracting AIDS.  Sam's attitude really began to improve.  He started talking more about his future, and he made several friends in the clinic.

When Sam was diagnosed with full-blown AIDS in April 1996, his new positive outlook on life did a complete turnaround.  He quit his job at the newspaper, and he seldom came to the clinic.  I tried to talk to Sam when he did come to the clinic. I told him that with today’s drugs, even people with full-blown AIDS can live for many years with the disease.  I suggested that he keep coming to group counseling, but I also recommended private professional therapy to get him through this.  Sam said that he could not afford private therapy.  I knew that his parents were wealthy, so I suggested that Sam go to them for help.  He refused.  He said that it was hard enough for his parents to deal with the fact that he had AIDS.  He said that he didn’t want to add to their worries by telling them he needed therapy.  I suggested that he bring his parents into the clinic so that we could explain the disease to them.  Sam just smiled sadly and said "Yeah, right."   He did go to his brother’s soccer games and his sister’s plays, but he didn’t seem to want to discuss his illness with his family. 

   
When Sam left the clinic that day, I knew that he was going downhill.  He had completely cut himself off from all the friends he had made in the clinic.  I asked him what was going on, and he said that he just couldn't stand being around death.  I was disturbed to see that Sam had adopted such a sense of doom.  By the end of July, Sam had almost completely stopped coming to the clinic.  The couple of times he did come, it seemed that he was there more for medical exams than for counseling.  I was once again curious as to why he just didn't rely on his parents' money to pay for a private doctor.  Sam said that he usually used a private doctor that his parents paid for.  He came for treatment at the clinic occasionally, because he didn't want his parents to know how frequently he had to go to the doctor.  He said that they would "freak out."

The beginning of August was about the time when the city issued an advisory about the hazards of the drinking water.  For obvious reasons, that was a really big deal around the clinic.  We made sure that everyone who worked in and visited the clinic was aware of the potential hazards of drinking Metro City tap water. Although the city had issued an advisory and published a notice in the paper, we thought that the language in both of these items may have been difficult for the average person to understand. Therefore, we also created and posted fliers in the clinic about water safety.  These fliers were pretty easy to spot and the language on them was simple.  They were bright red and measured about 12"x 24".  Since Sam hadn't been coming to the clinic, I tried to call him several times at his apartment to make sure he was up on the news.  No one ever answered.

When no one answered the phone at Sam's house, I decided to call Sam's parents.  I had their number because the patients at the clinic usually leave a number to call in case of emergency.  I was terrified that Sam may have gone to the hospital, or even worse.  When I called Sam's house, Ricki Jones answered.  When I told him/her that Sam had stopped coming to clinic, s/he told me that s/he was glad.  S/he said that it was about time Sam stop hanging around the dying and come back to live in the land of the living with "normal people".  "Normal people!"  I couldn't believe how ignorant this person was.  It was no wonder Sam was so depressed and confused.  When I told Mr./Mrs. Jones how worried I was about Sam, s/he said in a cold tone, "I appreciate your concern, but Sam is my child, my concern, and I will take care of him."  S/he told me that s/he had just visited Sam and he was perfectly alright.  Then s/he cut me off in mid-sentence.  "Good-bye," s/he said and hung up.  It was obvious that I could not talk to Sam's parents.  I also couldn't go to Sam's apartment or send him a letter, because he left only his phone number, and not his address with the clinic.  He was unlisted in the phone book and no one in the clinic had ever visited his apartment.  Therefore, I just waited and hoped that Sam would come back to the clinic. 

Sam did come back to clinic once in late August.  Unfortunately, I was on vacation the week that he came.  No one remembers whether or not Sam was told about the water situation.  By mid-August everyone pretty much assumed that everyone who visited the clinic was aware of the situation.  When the news about the water was first reported, we had talked about it endlessly.  We really went on a strong campaign to educate the HIV/AIDS community about the necessity of drinking purified water.  

One thing I am sure of is that we kept the posters about tap water safety posted.  Those posters were definitely up when Sam came into the clinic.  It is possible that he didn't notice or read the posters.  On the other hand, I was told that Sam seemed very depressed when he came into the clinic.  It is possible that he read the poster or already knew about the water situation, but that he just didn't want to fight to live anymore.



DR. HUNTER WILLIAMS
(Testifying for the Defendant)

My name is Hunter Williams.  I am currently the Chair of the Biology Department of Metro City Research Institute.  This is a research center funded by Metro City.  I have a Ph.D. degree in biology from the University of Northern Maryland.   I am a specialist in parasitology, a branch of biology dealing with parasites.  I have been studying parasites that live in water for ten years now.  One of the parasites I have studied is the Pindia parasite.  This parasite lives in an aquatic environment and feeds on almost any organic material.  I have written two articles on this parasite: New Breakthroughs in Pindia Research, and Pindia: The Hidden Threat To Our Tap Water.  Both of these articles appeared in the Journal of Drinking Water Safety, the leading research publication on the topic of drinking water.

The Metro City water system is a perfect place for the Pindia parasite to thrive and flourish.  The water system is over 75 years old and its pipes are decaying.  The deterioration of the pipes provides places for organic material to build up.  This organic material is food for the Pindia parasite to consume.  As the deterioration increased, so did the food source for these parasites.  As a result, the Pindia population rose with the increased deterioration of the pipes.  

When Metro City first detected the presence of the parasite in the water system back in 1993, I was very pleased that the city immediately hired me as a consultant.  After testing the content of the parasites in the water, I informed the city officials that 

the number of parasites was too small to cause concern.  However, I also advised them that the levels of water should be monitored for any further increase in the Pindia levels.

Current techniques to detect Pindia in water are expensive and difficult to perform.  Water samples are collected  in special filters from all parts of the city.  The filters are taken apart and their contents separated and studied in various ways.  The whole process takes about a week and each test costs $200,000.  As a result, water utilities do not routinely test for the parasite.  

Based on my recommendations, the City Council promptly voted to monitor the water system for any increase in the parasite numbers on a regular basis, every six months.  My institute does not conduct these tests, but we are paid to review the tests and check their accuracy and reliability.  For scientific reliability, it is important for an independent institute like our Metro City Institute to check the results of the city labs. 

Incidentally, I resent the attacks made on the Metro City Institute by Alex Foster in the city council race.  The Institute gives status to Metro City and jobs to its residents.  It's no surprise that Alex Foster lost the election, considering the extreme positions Foster took.

When the Metro City Council first approached me, I  informed them that the public health effects of low levels of Pindia in treated water are unknown.  However, I did inform the Council that once levels of the parasite reached 300 per gallon of water, a few members of the population might get Pindiatosis, an infection caused by Pindia.  I explained that in people with normal immune systems, Pindiatosis remains in the body for only one to two weeks.  The symptoms of this disease are: watery diarrhea associated with abdominal cramping, nausea, vomiting and fever.  However, even at 300 parasites per gallon, very few members of the community would become ill.  At levels of about 300 - 700 parasite per gallon, only those with weak and/or vulnerable immune systems are at risk.  For these people, the effects of Pindia can be ongoing and life-threatening.  For them, there is no effective treatment for infection.  

Pindia levels can be controlled.  The most cost-efficient way to dispose of the parasite would be to flush the pipes with chlorine.  Unfortunately, chlorine affects the taste of the water, and, similar to the effects of the parasite, it can result in upset stomachs, nausea and diarrhea.  On the other hand, chlorine would not adversely affect those with weak immune systems.  It is clear that the Council had to weigh the potential effects of using chlorine against allowing the parasite to remain present in the water system.  If the parasite levels remained below 300, it would not make sense to flush the water system with chlorine because the effects of the chlorine would equal to, if not worse than that of the parasite.

  Metro City vigilantly monitored the Pindia levels in the water.  Unfortunately, deterioration of the water pipes caused the parasite to multiply at rates higher than anyone anticipated.  Throughout this whole episode, the city council has acted very responsibly.  They immediately educated themselves on the issue and have vigilantly monitored the levels of Pindia since its discovery in the tap water, even though it has cost the city well over a half million dollars.   I think that the Metro City Council reacted responsibly to the Pindia problem.  They made well thought-out decisions in the best interest of the city.  Other cities similar to Metro City in size, population and age of water systems, have acted similarly.  For example, Gothic City monitors its water system four times each year, after it flushes its system with chlorine.   Metropolis flushes its water system every four months and monitors its water system shortly after each chlorine treatment.  Since testing began in 1993, the Pindia level in each of those cities never exceeded 200 parts per gallon of water, according to the most recent Journal of Drinking Water Safety article on the subject.
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AUGUST 1, 1996

(324)555-8798

IMPORTANT NOTICE PLEASE READ!!!
Dear Customer:

Water quality monitoring in June and July of 1996 has detected the Pindia parasite in the Metro City drinking water system in excess of the threshold level established by the Federal Water Safety Advisory.  In accordance with federal law, the Office of Public Utilities is required to publish a notice in the newspaper and advise Metro City residents by mail.

Pindia parasites are ordinarily found in many water distribution systems and are characteristically found in older water distribution system.  Pindia are generally not harmful and are naturally present in the environment.  The Federal Water Safety Advisory sets national drinking water quality standards and has determined that the increased presence of Pindia in the Metro City water system is a possible health concern for some and a serious health concern for a few.

People with suppressed immune systems (for example, HIV, AIDS, transplant patients) are particularly susceptible to ill effects from drinking Metro City tap water. Ingestion of the water may lead to diarrhea, cramps, nausea and possibly jaundice, headaches and fatigue.  In a very small minority of cases, the effects of the drinking water on a susceptible party may be fatal.

Metro City and the Federal Water Safety Advisory remind Metro City residents that no water system, public or private, can provide completely sterile drinking water.  Residents with suppressed immune systems should contact their physicians immediately for health advice on measures to protect themselves.  These measures could include boiling water for at least one minute before drinking, using bottled water, or using home treatment devices for extra protection.  If these people are not taking such measures, they should avoid consumption of the water until the total Pindia violation has been addressed.  All customers, however, may use tap water for domestic uses that do not involve its consumption.

Metro City is taking immediate action to remedy this unfortunate situation and will issue additional public notices if necessary.  This public notice and all others will be issued to health providers that care for the residents in this area.



Tap Water Advisory Issued
Aug. 1, Metro City.  The Council of Metro City (pictured above) met July 30 in a special session to discuss the recent findings of the Federal Water Safety Advisory.  The FWSA sets national drinking water quality standards.  In monitoring the Metro City drinking water system this summer, the FWSA has discovered the presence of a parasite known as Pindia. 

Pindia, ordinarily found in many water distribution systems, particularly older systems, is said to be only a possible health concern for some and a serious health concern for a few.  The FWSA advises that people with suppressed immune systems (HIV, AIDS, transplant patients) take the following measures to protect themselves: 1) boil water for at least one minute before drinking 2) use bottled water or 3) use home treatment devices for extra protection. They should avoid consumption of the water until the Pindia violation has been addressed.

The Office of the Director of Public Utilities has already issued one public notice.  Metro City is taking immediate action to remedy this unfortunate  situation and will issue additional public notices if necessary.
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